1948

Wilbur Burnham, Charles L. Burnham, Frances L. Mayo, Kenneth A. Luckey, and Walker Bank & Trust Company v. Leta B. Eschler : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an action to quiet title to nine parcels of real property of record in the name of Jennie B. Schank at the time of Mrs. Schank's death on March 30th, 1947. Mrs. Schank died intestate as to the real property. Thereafter Walker Bank & Trust Company was appointed administrator of the estate and was joined as a plaintiff in this proceeding with all of the heirs of the deceased, with the exception of Maritta B. Brazier, the mother of the defendant, Leta B. Eschler. The defendant, a niece of the deceased, claims title to the properties by reason of deeds purportedly executed by Mrs. Schank in 1938 and placed of record on April 3rd, 1947, three days after Mrs.

Schank's death. The trial court sustained the defendant's claim of ownership and from the Findings and Decree, quieting title in the defendant, this appeal is taken.

Plaintiffs, among other things, allege in their reply that the deeds were never delivered or intended to be delivered to Leta B. Eschler; that Mrs. Schank, the deceased, during her lifetime never intended to nor did she divest herself of or surrender up the title, possession, or right of possession in and to the properties in question, and that the deeds had been altered and changed as to the grantee and that such alterations and changes were not made with the consent or knowledge of Jennie B. Schank (Tr. pp. 26-28).

Deeds to each of the nine parcels of land described in the complaint were signed on the 20th day of December, 1938 in the office of S. W. Dowse in Salt Lake City, who prepared the deeds for Mrs. Schank's signature in blank as to the grantee. After the deeds were prepared, signed and acknowledged with the name of the grantee in blank, Mrs. Schank took them from the office of Mr. Dowse and never returned to have them completed as to the name of the grantee. At the time the deeds were prepared Mrs. Schank stated, in effect, that she wanted to set some of her affairs in order and to have the deeds made out so that some time in the future, when she saw fit, she could convey the properties to an individual or individuals of her choice (Tr. pp. 103-104).

The record is silent as to when or by whom the name, Leta B. Eschler, was inserted as the name of the grantee

in each of the deeds, but a casual examination of the deeds discloses that the name of the grantee was not inserted at the time the deeds were signed and acknowledged by the grantor, corroborating in that respect the witness Dowse. L. R. Eschler, the husband of the defendant, testified that the deeds were delivered to him in March of 1946 at Saratoga, California, by Mrs. Schank who was there at the time on a visit (Tr. p. 125); that at the time the deeds were delivered Mrs. Schank stated to the witness "that she was giving these properties to Leta, and that she wanted me to hold them until after her death. She made that express request, and that—she stated she didn't want Leta to feel any personal obligation to her while she was still living; that that was about the substance of it." (Tr. p. 127). Mr. Eschler testified that the deeds were in an envelope, which he believed was sealed at the time; that after Mrs. Schank left and returned home, he broke the seal, opened the envelope and examined the deeds, finding them to be in the same condition, with the exception of the recording data, that they were in at the time of their introduction in evidence (Tr. pp. 137-139).

Defendant's husband further testified that he kept the deeds in a brief case with other personal papers, and that they were constantly in his possession until he handed them to his wife, the defendant, in Salt Lake City immediately following Mrs. Schank's funeral, the day before the deeds were recorded, and that until the deeds were handed to Mrs. Eschler by the husband wit-

ness on April 2nd, 1947, Mrs. Eschler had no knowledge of their existence (Tr. pp. 128-129).

Abstracts of Title, introduced in evidence as exhibits B to I inclusive, covering respectively the first eight parcels of land described in the complaint, disclose the fee simple title to have been in Jennie B. Schank on the date of her death, March 30, 1947. The ninth parcel of land described in the complaint and the subject matter of one of the deeds executed in the office of Mr. Dowse on December 20, 1938 and included in one of the deeds said to have been delivered by Mrs. Schank to the defendant's husband in March, 1946, was sold, and a uniform real estate contract entered into by Jennie B. Schank, as seller, and Jay R. Springer and wife, as buyers, under date of April 1st, 1944 (Tr. p. 72, exhibit J).

Mrs. Schank, up to the time of her death, treated the properties as her own, as indicated by negotiations with real estate agents and others concerning the possible disposition of some or all of the properties (Tr. pp. 265-268, 269-270, 284-285), paid taxes on all of the properties (Tr. pp. 79-80), collected the rentals and income therefrom as shown by entries in books of account, exhibits L and M, made returns and paid income tax in connection therewith (Tr. pp. 258-259), and kept the properties insured against loss by fire in her name (Tr. p. 260).

Over objection as to the competency of the witness Eschler to testify to any transactions with the deceased (Tr. p. 125), he stated that Mrs. Schank felt that it would be a burden for the Eschlers to pay the taxes in

excess of revenues from the properties, and that she would pay the taxes herself for Leta; that she advised against selling any of the properties (Tr. pp. 127-129). Other testimony was to the effect that Mrs. Schank was an exceptionally good, careful and meticulous business woman (Tr. pp. 217-218); that Mrs. Eschler was a favorite relative (Tr. p. 146) and that there was one relative in particular that Mrs. Schank did not even want on the property (Tr. p. 218).

An Olographic Will was introduced in evidence, exhibit P, reading as follows:

“June 17-26

Herein is the disposal I wish of my belongings if I should meet with any casualty.

The home and all belongings on 2nd Ave. shall belong to my mother during her life along with \$10,000.00 Ten Thousand Dollars. One Thousand \$1,000.00 to Melvin, \$1,000.00 to Leta, \$1,000.00 to Mildred and \$2,000.00 to my sisters, Smona' & Rittie, also brothers.

Jennie B. Schank”

Exhibit A, an undated memorandum in the handwriting of Mrs. Schank, was likewise received in evidence, reading as follows:

“An *equal* division shall be made of balance among all members of *familly* *enclunding* those not mentioned in this paper Deeds to property are in safe to be completed as designated by my mother

Jennie B. Schank”



The exhibits P and A were found together in an envelope shown on the photostat exhibit P. The envelope was found in a black record book among Mrs. Schank's papers by the administrator while listing the assets of the estate (Tr. pp. 252-254).

Mrs. Eschler arrived in Salt Lake immediately after Mrs. Schank's death. Her husband arrived in Salt Lake on a Monday prior to the funeral that was held the following Wednesday. On Monday night both Mr. and Mrs. Eschler stayed alone in Mrs. Schank's home on Second Avenue. In the basement of the home was a safe containing private papers of Mrs. Schank. On Tuesday night Mr. and Mrs. Eschler stayed at the home of a relative and on Wednesday night, the night before the deeds were recorded, they again stayed alone at Mrs. Schank's home (Tr. p. 132). While the witness Eschler denied going into the safe, he admitted that while there he removed a page from one of Mrs. Schank's account books that contained information relating to personal transactions between himself and the deceased (Tr. pp. 133, 135-136). The safe, however, had been opened on Monday afternoon, before Mr. Eschler arrived in town, in the presence of Mrs. Mayo, a niece of the deceased and one of the heirs, Mrs. Eschler, the defendant, and others, who made only a superficial examination of the contents at the time (Tr. p. 281).

From the foregoing and aside from the question of the credibility of the witness Eschler, the husband of the defendant, two basic questions present themselves.

(1) whether the alleged delivery of the deeds under the circumstances was testamentary in nature or an absolute conveyance between living parties, and (2) whether, in any event, the signing of the deeds in blank as to the grantee, and no further acknowledgment or proof as to execution of the completed documents, constitutes due execution and proof of conveyance.

### STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED UPON

1. The court erred in admitting in evidence defendant's exhibits numbers 1 to 9 inclusive over the objection of plaintiffs that no proper foundation had been laid and that said deeds were incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial. (Original objection Tr. p. 110. Objection renewed and ruling Tr. p. 192).

2. That the judgment and decree (Tr. pp. 56-57) is contrary to law and is not supported by the evidence, or by the findings or by the conclusions of law.

3. That the conclusions of law (Tr. pp. 53-55) are not supported by the evidence or by the findings of fact.

4. That the findings of fact (Tr. pp. 48-53) are not supported by but are contrary to the evidence and particularly as the same purport to find that Jennie B. Schank completed or caused to be completed the nine deeds by inserting or causing to be inserted therein the name of Leta B. Eschler as grantee, and that the said Jennie B. Schank intended to part with and did divest herself of all control and dominion over said deeds or the property described therein.

5. Finding of fact number 2 (Tr. p. 49) is not supported by but is contrary to law and the evidence and particularly wherein it is found that the alleged affection between Jennie B. Schank and the defendant was to the exclusion of all other relatives of Jennie B. Schank, including the plaintiffs.

6. Finding of fact number 3 (Tr. p. 49) is not supported by but is contrary to law and the evidence and particularly wherein it purports to find that on the 20th day of December, 1938 Jennie B. Schank executed the nine warranty deeds covering and describing the parcels of real estate involved.

7. Finding of fact number 4 (Tr. p. 51) is not supported by but is contrary to law and the evidence, and particularly wherein it purports to find that sometime prior to the month of March, 1946 said Jennie B. Schank completed, or caused to be completed, the nine deeds aforesaid by inserting or causing to be inserted therein the name of Leta B. Eschler as grantee, and wherein it purports to find that Jennie B. Schank delivered said nine deeds and each of them to Logan Russell Eschler, husband of the defendant, in furtherance of a purpose or intention, express or otherwise, to make provision for the defendant or otherwise.

8. Finding of fact number 5 (Tr. p. 51) is not supported by but is contrary to law and the evidence, and particularly wherein it is found that Jennie B. Schank intended to part and did by said act of delivery completely and irrevocably divest herself of all control and

dominion over said deeds, and particularly wherein it is found that simultaneously or otherwise with the alleged delivery of said deeds to Logan Russell Eschler, Jennie B. Schank informed the said Eschler that the properties described in said deeds were being given by Jennie B. Schank to the defendant with the intention and purpose that defendant should have the security of the properties at all times or otherwise, and with the advice and recommendation of Jennie B. Schank that defendant should retain said properties and not sell and dispose of them; and wherein it is found that the said Jennie B. Schank requested that defendant be not informed concerning the delivery of said deeds until after the death of Jennie B. Schank, and that she, Jennie B. Schank, desired to continue the payment of taxes and expenses incident to the management of the properties described in said deeds in order that the expenses incident to their operation and management should not be burdensome to defendant or her husband, Logan Russell Eschler.

9. Finding of fact number 6 (Tr. p. 52) is contrary to law and the evidence, and particularly that portion thereof wherein it is found that after the delivery of said deeds Jennie B. Schank continued in the management, control and possession of the properties described therein and in plaintiffs' complaint for the use and benefit of defendant, and wherein it is found that Jennie B. Schank stated to third parties that she could not sell or contract to sell the so-called Murray tract or any other property without conferring with defendant to ascertain

if defendant wished to have the money from a sale thereof, or to retain said property, and that any tract belonged to the defendant and that the defendant had any control to be exercised over any of said tracts prior to or after the death of the said Jennie B. Schank; and wherein it is found that Jennie B. Schank did not request or demand or obtain the control or possession of the deeds or any of them during her lifetime, and that Logan Russell Eschler continued uninterruptedly in the control and possession of the same, and particularly where it is found that Logan Russell Eschler delivered said deeds to the defendant as requested by Jennie B. Schank.

10. Finding of fact number 8 (Tr. p. 53) is contrary to law and the evidence, and particularly that portion thereof wherein it is found that Jennie B. Schank in her lifetime intended that the property and the said deeds should be the property of Leta B. Eschler, and wherein it is found that Jennie B. Schank in her lifetime delivered said deeds to Logan Russell Eschler so that any purpose or intention in connection with such property would be carried out.

11. Conclusion of law number 1 (Tr. pp. 53-54) is contrary to law and is not supported by the evidence.

12. Conclusion of law number 2 is contrary to law and is not supported by the evidence.

13. Conclusion of law number 3 is contrary to law and is not supported by the evidence.

14. Conclusion of law number 4 is contrary to law and is not supported by the evidence.

15. The court erred in overruling objections as to the competency of the witness Eschler, the husband of the defendant, to testify as to the transactions with the deceased (Tr. p. 125).

## ARGUMENT

The Assignments of Error and the various propositions involved group themselves for argument as follows :

### **1. In View Of The Showing Made In The Record The Deeds Under Which The Defendant Claims Are Void.**

Defendant's witness Dowse testified that the exhibits 1 to 9 inclusive were prepared in his office on December 20, 1938, signed by Jennie B. Schank and acknowledged by the witness' father (Tr. p. 101) with the grantee's name in blank (Tr. p. 104). The record is silent as to who inserted the name of Leta B. Eschler as grantee in the instruments or when the same was done or the circumstances, except the testimony of the defendant's husband to the effect that when he broke the seal and opened the envelope containing the deeds after the envelope had been handed to him by Mrs. Schank, the deeds bore the name of Leta B. Eschler. When the defendant offered the deeds in evidence objections were made that no foundation had been laid and that the exhibits were incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial (Tr. p. 110, 192).

Deeds executed in blank are void. This was the holding of this court in the case of *Utah State Building & Loan Ass'n v. Perkins*, 53 Utah 474, 173 P. 950. The court applied Compiled Laws of Utah 1907, Section 1974, the same as Section 33-5-1 U.C.A. 1943, Statutes of Fraud, which section is as follows :

“No estate or interest in real property, other than leases for a term not exceeding one year nor any trust or power over or concerning real property or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created granted, assigned, surrendered or declared otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing.”

In applying the foregoing statute the court held:

“I find no authority holding a conveyance effective under similar facts as appear in this record. On the contrary, there appears to be no conflict that blank deeds or blank papers executed as these were are void and do not convey any interest or title whatever. *Southern Pine Lumber Co. v. Arnold* (Tex. Civ. App.) 139 S.W. 917; *Allen v. Allen*, 48 Minn. 462, 51 N.W. 473; 13 Cyc. 551; 8 R.C.L. 956.”

In the case of *Trout v. Taylor*, 17 P. (2d) 761 (Cal.) it was held:

“In *Jones v. Coulter*, 75 Cal. App. 540, at page 547, 243 P. 487, 490, the court held: ‘There can be no doubt as to the utter invalidity of the instruments under which appellant’s grantor, Meng, derainged his purported title. The blank deeds signed by respondent and subsequently filled out under Neilson’s direction, with Meng’s name inserted as the purported grantee, were mere nullities. According to the great weight of authority, a deed executed in blank is void and passes no title. *Wunderlin v. Cadogan*, 50 Cal. 613, and cases cited *infra*. As was said in *Whitaker v. Miller*, 83 Ill. 381: ‘There must be, in every grant, a grantor,

a grantee and a thing granted, and a deed wanting in either essential is absolutely void.' \* \* \*

In view of these authorities, the conclusion is inescapable that the deed in question was not voidable, but was void in toto; a nullity."

In *Allen v. Allen*, 51 N.W. 473 (Minn.), after holding that in every grant there must be a grantor, grantee and a thing granted and a deed wanting in either essential is invalid, the court held that parol testimony could not be received for the purpose of curing a defective deed, stating as follows:

"If it could, an error in or omission of the name of the grantor or grantee, or an error in or omission of the description of the property intended to be conveyed, could be rectified or wholly supplied with the same class of testimony in an action of this character. A legal title to real property cannot be established by parol."

This court, in the early case of *Nilson v. Hamilton*, 53 Utah 594, 174 P. 624, held a deed to be void which ran to a deceased person or to his estate, the court stating:

"We need not stop to discuss or declare that the attempted conveyance of 1876 to James L. Hamilton, who was then deceased, or to the estate of James L. Hamilton, deceased, did not convey any title to any one. There was no person in existence in law, named in the deed, authorized to receive, or who had the legal capacity to receive the title to the premises. It must therefore be concluded that these attempted conveyances of the several patentees in 1876 were mere nullities. 13 Cyc. 527; *Rixford v. Zeigler et al.*, 150 Cal. 435, 88 Pac. 1092, 119 Am. St. Rep. 229; *McInerney v.*



Beck, 10 Wash. 515, 39 Pac. 130; 1 Devlin, Deeds (3d Ed.) Section 187.”

The validity of the deeds were in question by the pleadings, by the alteration on the face of the documents themselves, and by the testimony of the witness Dowse called by the defendant. The moment it was shown that the instruments were not as on their face they purported to be, the burden rested upon the defendant to prove their due execution. When the witness Dowse testified that Mrs. Schank took the deeds from his office with no grantee named, then every presumption of due execution was destroyed and a re-execution under the authorities was required, which would mean something more than the mere physical delivery of the deeds by Mrs. Schank to the witness Eschler, which brings us to the next point.

## **2. The Defendant Failed To Sustain The Burden Of Due Execution Of The Deeds.**

In the case of *Tarpey v. Desert Salt Co.*, 5 Utah 205, 14 P. 338, the court holds that the proving of a deed, when necessary to be made, must be made in the first instance by the testimony of a subscribing witness, and that the certificate of acknowledgment is not conclusive but only prima facie evidence. In the case at bar the proof appears by the defendant's own witness that the deeds even as between the parties were not sufficient because when signed the name of the grantee was lacking. Now, what proof is there that even as between the parties the instruments were sufficient? The inference that might be said to arise from the testimony of Eschler is not sufficient and this is all there is in the record for the defendant to rely upon.

The term "conveyance" is defined by Section 78-1-1 U.C.A. 1943, and is as follows:

"The term 'conveyance' as used in this title shall be construed to embrace every instrument in writing by which any real estate, or interest in real estate, is created, aliened, mortgaged, encumbered or assigned, except wills, and leases for a term not exceeding one year."

The manner of proof of the execution of a conveyance is prescribed by Section 78-2-9 U.C.A. 1943, as follows:

"The proof of the execution of any conveyance whereby real estate is conveyed or may be affected shall be:

- (1) By the testimony of a subscribing witness, if there is one; or,
- (2) When all the subscribing witnesses are dead, or cannot be had, by evidence of the handwriting of the party, and of a subscribing witness, if there is one, given by a credible witness to each signature."

In the Tarpey case, *supra*, it is said:

"The statute points to the subscribing witnesses as the first persons to look to in such cases for proof, and the proper ones to furnish proof in the first instance of the due execution of the deed, in all cases when it is attacked, or when its validity is in any manner called into question. Besides, the statute requiring one or more witnesses to a deed increases the difficulty of making a fraudulent or forged deed, and adds to the solemnity of its execution. The signing of deeds by witnesses was not required at common law, nor was the

signing by the party required. But here we have a statute that specifies, as parts of the due execution of the deed, the signing by the party and the signing by the witnesses.”

The court, in the Tarpey case, had before it the Compiled Laws of Utah 1876, page 254, Section 1 (617), which section provides:

“That conveyances of lands, or of any estate or interest therein, may be made by deed, signed by the person from whom the estate or interest is intended to pass, being of lawful age, or by his lawful agent or attorney, and by one or more credible witnesses, and acknowledged or proved, and recorded as provided in this act.”

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