1948

Wilbur Burnham, Charles L. Burnham, Frances L. Mayo, Kenneth A. Luckey, and Walker Bank & Trust Company v. Leta B. Eschler : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The essential inquiry here is to discover the purpose and intention of Jennie B. Schank in connection with the execution and delivery of the deeds which are the subject of this litigation. As a background against which to project such an inquiry, there must be clearly before the court all of the important facts in the relationship between grantor and grantee. The significant facts in the case are so slighted in appellants' brief that we

feel under obligation to the court and to our client to set them forth here.

At the time first referred to in the record, the several members of the Burnham family resided in Salt Lake City. They were Mrs. Burnham, the mother, three daughters and two brothers. The brothers were Wilbur and Charles L. Burnham, who are appellants in this case. The sisters were Jennie, Maritta and Sonoma Burnham. (Tr. 3, 4)

Jennie Burnham married Louis Schank. (Tr. 117, 123, 180) She and Louis established a business on lower Second Avenue in Salt Lake City. (Tr. 102, 103, 118, 119, 163, 168, 180, 214) They devoted themselves to the business and prospered in the pursuit of it. (Tr. 104, 105, 119, 181) Unfortunately, they remained childless to the end of their days. (Tr. 3) Sonoma Burnham married a man named Luckey. She became the mother of two children, Kenneth Luckey and Frances Luckey Mayo, who are appellants in this case. (Tr. 3) Maritta Burnham married a man by the name of Brazier. (Tr. 101, 102) They established their home near that of Jennie and Louis. (Tr. 102, 103, 123) Maritta became the mother of two children, a boy Melvin and a daughter called Leta, who is respondent here. (Tr. 101, 102)

When Leta was five years of age her father died and her mother was required to find work in order to support herself and children. (Tr. 102) Her work kept her away from her home from 8-00 in the morning until after

6:00 each evening. Shortly after her father's death Leta began her schooling at the Lafayette School near the home of her mother, and near the home of Mrs. Schank. (Tr. 103)

Leta went from her school in the afternoon to the home of her Aunt Jennie Schank to await her mother's return from work. (Tr. 103) The habit of going from school to the Schank home became fixed in the life of Leta, and was the beginning of a lasting companionship between Leta and her Aunt Jennie and Uncle Louis Schank. The affectionate attachment thus established continued and grew from those early beginnings to the very last day of Jennie Schank's life. Jennie Schank, being childless, found an object for her affection and devotion in the little girl. (Tr. 60, 82, 83, 84, 85, 103-107, 108, 109, 113, 114, 119, 120, 124, 125, 126, 140, 149, 150, 158, 165, 166, 167, 173, 181)

During the joint lives of Louis and Jennie Schank, both of them focused their attention and devotion and their tender care upon Leta. Louis and Jennie so far prospered that they were able to attend conventions of the National Grocers' Association at various cities in the United States far removed from Salt Lake City, and on many such trips they took Leta with them. When Leta was ten, Jennie and Louis Schank took her with them on a trip to Alaska. When she was sixteen, they took her on a three month's tour of Europe. (Tr. 85, 104, 105, 106, 107, 113, 114, 119, 120, 123, 124, 130, 131, 133, 139, 140, 148, 149, 150, 165, 166, 173, 180, 181)

In the day to day routine of life, Leta occupied the place in the hearts of both Jennie and Louis Schank which a natural child would have occupied. (Tr. 40, 59, 60, 82, 83, 104, 105, 113, 114, 116, 119, 120, 126, 173) Jennie bought new clothes for Leta and repaired old ones. (Tr. 82, 105, 125, 126, 139, 148, 173) She paid for dancing lessons and when the dancing lessons had progressed so far that Leta became expert, Jennie Schank drove her in her automobile to places of exhibition and proudly exhibited Leta as the result of her care and attention. (Tr. 100, 106, 108, 109, 124, 125, 132, 148, 173)

In 1935, Leta was married to Logan Russell Eschler and established a home of her own in Salt Lake City. That marriage, rather than weakening the bond of affection between Leta and Mrs. Schank, brought on an even stronger attachment, and the devotion of Mrs. Schank to Leta was enlarged to encompass Leta's children and her husband. In 1936, Louis Schank died. The loss of Louis strengthened the devotion of Jennie for Leta and singled out Leta more definitely than before as the natural object of Jennie's bounty. (Tr. 106, 119, 120, 126, 173)

In 1941, Leta's husband joined the armed forces and was required to report at San Louis Obispo in California. Leta and her little ones joined the husband in California, where they maintained a home in several communities during the war. During that time Mrs. Schank made frequent visits to Leta's home in California, and on many occasions Mrs. Schank put up fruit in Salt Lake City and transported it to California for the use of Leta and

children. When she was not with Leta and children in California, she wrote them at least once a week, and almost daily called Leta's mother, Maritta Brazier, to inquire if any word had come from Leta or the children. While Leta's husband, Russell, was overseas, Mrs. Schank wrote him once a week. (Tr. 52-57, 82, 83, 84, 90, 106, 107, 108, 131)

In the meantime, Mrs. Schank was not thoughtless of her mother, but except for her mother, there is no evidence that any other member of the family shared the affection and attention of Mrs. Schank with Leta. After the death of Mrs. Schank's mother in 1944, Mrs. Schank made Leta and her children the sole object of her devotion. (Tr. 45, 60, 82, 85, 86, 87, 106, 107, 108, 113, 114, 115, 116, 119, 120, 126, 130, 133, 134, 139, 140, 149, 150, 152, 154, 165, 166, 167, 173, 182)

The facts that we have recited are entirely without dispute in the record. In addition to members of the family who testified, thirteen friends of long standing who knew Mrs. Schank intimately and saw her frequently, appeared and testified as to the relationship between her and Leta. To some of the witnesses Mrs. Schank had stated specifically that the only thing she had left in life was Leta and her children. (Tr. 82, 106, 119, 120, 126, 139, 140, 173) To others she had stated that her purpose was to see to it that Leta and her children were given security. (Tr. 62, 63, 65, 88, 89, 90, 166) Others had stated that friends of both Mr. and Mrs. Schank had assumed from the relationship between them and among

them that Leta was the natural child of Jennie and Louis. (Tr. 158, 181)

Because the decisions dealing with kindred problems lay much emphasis on the relationship between grantor and grantee, it is important to bear in mind that Leta was the natural object of Mrs. Schank's affection and bounty. They were in no sense strangers. The blood relationship was that of aunt and niece, which relationship is in itself important and is in itself sufficient to make Leta a natural object of Mrs. Schank's bounty, but in this case the relationship was of a peculiar and unusual quality. All of the witnesses who had ample and constant opportunity to observe, made it plain, not only that the devotion of Mrs. Schank to Leta began while the child was small, but that it persisted to the end of Mrs. Schank's life, and when we say the end of Mrs. Schank's life, we mean to the very last day. Mrs. Schank died suddenly at the Elk's Club in Salt Lake City on the evening of March 30, 1947. That very afternoon she proudly reported to two of her friends that she had that day sent away a parcel as a gift to one of Leta's children. (Tr. 3, 149, 150, 167)

What did the record show as to Mrs. Schank's attitude to her other relatives? No witness came forward to testify that she ever spoke affectionately of any of the members of her family, with the exception of her mother, and on occasions of her sister Maritta. No claim was ever brought forth that any other member of Mrs. Schank's family shared her affection with Leta. In fact, the record is undisputed that appellants seldom visited

at her home, and that she cared little about them. (Tr. 45, 86, 87, 115, 116) It is also the undisputed evidence that Mrs. Schank held one of the appellants, Charles L. Burnham—referred to in the record as Roy Burnham—in such low esteem that she would not allow him to set foot upon her property. (Tr. 154)

It being clear that Mrs. Schank focused her devotion upon Leta and her family, and that it was her desire and intention to make substantial provision for Leta and her family, did she do anything to carry her purpose and intention into effect?

Mrs. Schank was the owner of many parcels of real estate in Salt Lake County. (Tr. 13, 14, 174) Some were unimproved, while some were improved and yielded revenue. (Tr. 17, 18, 20, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 32, 76) As the owner of the property, she managed and maintained and preserved it. In addition to owning real estate, she owned mortgages and notes and other revenue-producing assets. (Tr. 42, 157, 162, 164, 169, 194) From time to time she did business with C. H. Dowse and his son S. W. Dowse, who maintained a real estate office on State Street in Salt Lake City. (Tr. 36, 40, 42) On the 20th day of December, 1938, Mrs. Schank called at the office of Mr. Dowse and his son, where she directed that certain deeds be prepared. In accordance with her request, Mr. S. W. Dowse prepared at least nine real estate deeds, in accordance with Mrs. Schank's directions. Each deed described a specific parcel of land in Salt Lake County. The deeds were thereafter signed by Jennie B. Schank in the presence of S. W. Dowse, and Mrs. Schank's

acknowledgment was taken by C. H. Dowse as Notary Public. C. H. Dowse was dead at the time of the trial, but S. W. Dowse was sworn and testified that the deeds were signed by Mrs. Schank in his presence. (Tr. 36, 37, 38, 39, 40)

Among the deeds made out by S. W. Dowse and signed by Mrs. Schank on that occasion were the nine deeds involved in this litigation. (Tr. 36, 37) When the deeds were made out and signed, Mrs. Schank asked that the name of the grantee be left blank. After she had signed the deeds, and after her acknowledgment had been taken by C. H. Dowse, Mrs. Schank stated that she would supply the name of the grantee in the deeds at a later time when she would see to it that the property went to the party she wanted to have it, and would not go to members of her family whom she did not care to have it. (Tr. 36, 39, 40, 45) She carried the deeds away from Mr. Dowse's office without having the name of the grantee filled in. (Tr. 47) The record is silent as to where the deeds were kept thereafter, or as to when the name of Leta B. Eschler was filled in as grantee. But the record is such as to compel the conclusion that they were filled in by or under the direction of Mrs. Schank in her lifetime.

In March of 1946 Mrs. Schank made one of her many visits to Leta and her family. Leta was then living in Saratoga, California. While visiting in Saratoga, Mrs. Schank sat and talked with Leta's husband, L. Russell Eschler. She handed him an envelope which contained the deeds in this case. When she gave him the envelope she

stated that she was "giving these properties to Leta and she wanted me to hold them until after her death. She made that express request, and that—she stated that she didn't want Leta to feel any personal obligation to her while she was still living." At the time the parcel of deeds was delivered to Leta's husband, Mrs. Schank and Leta's husband discussed the husband's income and the revenue that was derived from the properties covered by the deeds. Mrs. Schank stated that it was her opinion that it would be a burden upon Leta and her husband to pay the taxes, which were in excess of the revenues on the property, and stated that she wanted to pay the taxes herself for Leta. (Tr. 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65)

Thereafter, Leta's husband opened the envelope containing the deeds and examined them. (Tr. 74) The deeds named Leta B. Eschler as grantee, and were in all respects complete ~~warranty~~ ^{warranty} deeds. They were in the same condition when delivered to Russell Eschler as they were when offered in evidence in the court below, except for the recording data put upon them by the Recorder of Salt Lake County. (Tr. 64, 75)

Upon her return from California, Mrs. Schank stated to the witness, Daisy Bane, that she had been visiting with Leta and that she had left some deeds with Russell. (Tr. 87, 88)

Russell Eschler placed the deeds in a briefcase with his own personal papers and said nothing about them to Leta. Approximately a year after delivering the deeds to Russell, Mrs. Schank died. Following her funeral, Russell

delivered the deeds to Leta and she placed them of record in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County. (Tr. 11, 12, 64)

Following delivery of the deeds by Mrs. Schank to Leta's husband, Mrs. Schank continued to manage the property and to collect the revenues therefrom and to pay the taxes levied thereon. She discussed with certain real estate brokers the possibility of selling one or more of the parcels of land, but she never sold or encumbered the land in any way. (Tr. 49, 51, 203, 204, 221) The property covered by the nine deeds was not self-sustaining, and it was entirely consistent with the statement made by Mrs. Schank to Russell Eschler at the time of delivery that she should maintain and preserve the property by the collection of rents and the payment of taxes until Leta's enjoyment of the property should take effect, or until she was in a financial condition to carry the burden of the property. (Tr. 31, 32, 63, 65, 76)

FINDINGS OF FACT

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

DECREE

The trial court saw and heard all of the witnesses and examined all of the documents received in evidence. He listened to the arguments of counsel, then made his findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree, quieting title to all of the parcels of land involved in this litigation in respondent Leta B. Eschler.

In substance the court found that Leta B. Eschler was the object of Mrs. Schank's love and affection, and therefore the natural object of her bounty; that on December 20, 1938, Jennie B. Schank, at the office of S. W. Dowse in Salt Lake City, signed and acknowledged each of the nine deeds involved in this case; that at various times to various persons Jennie B. Schank had made known her intention to provide for the security of Leta B. Eschler and her children. He found that some time prior to March of 1946, Jennie B. Schank completed each of the nine deeds by inserting, or causing to be inserted, in each of the same the name of Leta B. Eschler as grantee and that in the month of March, 1946, Jennie B. Schank delivered each and all of the nine deeds so completed to Russell Eschler, the husband of Leta B. Eschler, with the statement that she was giving the properties to Russell's wife Leta. He found that at the time of delivering the said deeds to Russell Eschler, Jennie B. Schank intended to and did completely and irrevocably divest herself of control and dominion over said deeds; that simultaneously with the delivery of said deeds, Jennie B. Schank informed Russell Eschler that the property described in said deeds was being given to Leta for the security and protection of Leta; that Leta should not be informed of the delivery of the deeds during the lifetime of Jennie B. Schank. He found that at the time of delivery of said deeds to Russell Eschler, Jennie B. Schank further expressed the desire that she continue to pay the taxes and expenses incident to the management and maintenance of the property, so that

the management and expense of said property would not be a burden upon Leta or her family.